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FOREWORD

programs established under the Economic Opportunity Act of 1964. It was published by the
Friends of the Office of Economic Opportunity (OEO) in 1989 in commemoration of the
twenty-fifth anniversary of the Act. Now, a decade later and in commemoration of the thirty-fifth
anniversary, the National Association of Community Action Agencies has revised and updated it.

For any number of reasons, many of the original legislative authorities, program names and
administering agencies have been changed over time. To take one example, Operation Mainstream
evolved into the Senior Community Service Employment Program and is currently administered
by the U.S. Department of Labor. State Economic Opportunity Offices are now State Community
Services Programs offices. Many Community Action Agencies do not call themselves “action
agencies.” The Office of Economic Opportunity no longer exists, its functions subsumed within
the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

But the most salient finding is that virtually all the original programs continue to serve this
nation and its low-income population. Many have expanded and received larger and larger con-
gressional appropriations. The commitment to eliminate poverty remains and is being carried out
by a new generation of anti-poverty workers. ‘

This booklet reviews the first waves of battles fought, victories achieved, setbacks experienced
and the endurance of the OFEO spirit. It seeks to give the new generation a firmer grounding in the
history of the social programs under the Economic Opportunity Act, by sharing the pervasive and

lasting impact of the Office of Economic Opportunity.
' Much deserved credit is given to Mr. Richard M. Saul. He prepared and edited the first Seeds
of Opportunity, on which this edition relies heavily.

T I YuE first edition of Seeds of Opportunity concisely summarized the evolution of anti-poverty

John Buckstead
Executive Director
National Association of Community Action Agencies



INTRODUCTION

N his first State of the Union Address, January 8, 1964, President Lyndon Johnson declared war
Ion poverty. The March on Washington during the preceding August, when Dr. King shared

his prophetic dream, had dramatized the social and economic crisis of America’s African-
American community. Unemployment among non-whites was at least double that of whites. Ra-
cial discrimination pervaded a society in which minorities in some areas faced illegal restrictions
on their right to vote and were denied basic civil rights protections. In spite of general prosperity,
the rate at which people were escaping poverty was slowing down.

On August 20, 1964 President Johnson signed the Economic Opportunity Act (EOA), which
established the Office of Economic Opportunity (OEO) within the Executive Office of the Presi-
dent. The Act mandated a comprehensive attack on the causes and conditions of poverty in America
and the elimination of “the paradox of poverty in the midst of plenty.”

The scope of the EOA was broad, encompassing job training, education, economic develop-
ment, health care delivery, legal services, volunteerism, programs for Native Americans and mi-
grant and seasonal farm workers programs. The Act established the local flagship of the war on
poverty, the Community Action Agency (CAA). It further mandated the “maximum feasible par-
ticipation” of the poor in all aspects of the anti-poverty programs.

OEO and its programs brought significant innovations to public policy and the nation’s social
welfare system. Programs like Head Start, Job Corps, and Legal Services became household names.
However, many of the changes introduced by OFO and its grantees led to controversy and ad-
verse reaction.

In 1973, President Richard M. Nixon tried to dismantle OEO, eliminate some programs, and
transfer others to old-line departments. While the courts ruled that such drastic action without
congressional approval was illegal, a significant realignment of the anti-poverty programs oc-
curred within a couple of years.

In January 1975, OEO and the Economic Opportunity Act were incorporated into the Commu-
nity Services Act and OEO was replaced by a successor agency, the U.S. Community Services
Administration (CSA). Many OEO programs and functions were transferred to other agencies.
However, the Community Action Program stayed with CSA until the Reagan administration.

Under the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981, CSA was eliminated as a federal agency
and its functions were transferred to the Office of Community Services in the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services (HHS). The Act created the Community Services Block Grant (CSBG)
as the source of core funding for Community Action Agencies.

Most programs not only survived but prospered in their new homes. Community Action has
evolved to become the nation’s preeminent community building, human services delivery, and
low-income advocacy network in America.

The nation’s war on poverty and the quest for economic and social opportunity for all of its
low-income citizens, whatever their origin, background or circumstances, continues...

ii



ADULT BAsic EDUCATION

ITHOUT a minimum level of education,

itis difficult for individuals in poverty

to gain needed skills and work experi-
ence. The Economic Opportunity Act (EOA) of
1964 included Title II-B, the Adult Basic Educa-
tion (ABE) program. This title was notin the origi-
nal draft of the Act but was added later by con-
gressional supporters. It provided for federal
grants to state education agencies under which
the state education agencies would encourage and
support remedial education programs for adults.

At the local level, school boards and other
education authorities received funds for ABE un-
der a federally approved plan developed by state
education agencies. The Office of Economic Op-
portunity delegated the Adult Basic Education
program to the Office of Education in the Depart-
ment of Health Education and Welfare. Two years
later; the program was amended and expanded
into a new law, the Adult Education Act of 1966
(AEA). The program has continued to grow and
evolve.

Prior to 1964, local education agencies, pri-
marily in urban areas, offered public education
for adults, but few agencies offered adult basic
education. Title II-B of the Economic Opportunity
Act and its successor; the Adult Education Act,
quickly motivated states to develop comprehen-
sive ABE programs. By 1966, all states had pro-
grams underway, thousands of teachers had re-
ceived training, and nearly a quarter of a million
individuals had enrolled in basic education

courses. AEA provided for Adult Basic Educa-
tion, Adult Secondary Education and Education
in English as a Second Language.

The ABE program initially raised some con-
cerns that state and local control over the educa-
tional system would be lost to the federal govern-
ment. The professional adult education commu-
nity, viewing the legislation as an opportunity to
bring adult education into the educational main-
stream, successfully countered the criticism. The
program has gained widespread acceptance. It
has been reaffirmed and refined through various
legislative amendments, such as the National Lit-
eracy Act of 1991 signed by President Bush. Most
recently, President Clinton signed into law the
Adult and Family Literacy Actas part of the 1998
Workforce Investment Act. This law creates an
integrated “one stop” system of workforce invest-
ment and education activities for adults and youth.

Since passage of the Economic Opportunity
Act of 1964, student enrollment and program
funding have risen dramatically. Enrollment rose
from 245,000 in 1966 to 4 million in 1996; federal
allotments to states increased from $20 million in
FY 1967 to $345 million in FY 1998. Most local
programs have waiting lists for entry.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY:  Division of AdultEdu-
cation and Literacy, U.S. Department of Education,
600 Independence Ave. SW, Washington, D.C. 20202-
7240; (202) 401-2000; <www.ed.gov>.




AMERICAN INDIANS AND OTHER NATIVE AMERICANS

special provisions for

American Indians or other
Native American peoples. Never-
theless, both on and off reserva-
tions, in rural and urban commu-
nities, low-income American Indi-
ans participated in OEO-funded
programs from the beginning. Com-
munity Action Agencies served
American Indians on reservation
grounds or in nearby communities.
By 1967, OEO had provided funds
totaling $21 million to 114 tribal
councils in 20 states. These tribal councils gov-
erned over 80 percent of all American Indians liv-
ing on reservations.

The philosophy of Community Actionlentit-
self to a different relationship with tribal coun-
cils. Governmental paternalism gave way to maxi-
mum feasible participation by Indian peoples in
planning and running tribal programs. Tribal
councils assumed responsibility for assessing
their needs, developing plans for addressing them
and administering programs. OEO made sure that
Indian and other Native American peoples par-
ticipated in programs like Head Start, Neighbor-
hood Youth Corps, Alcoholism Prevention and
Adult Basic Education. Atthe same time, Tribal
Councils received support for specific projects
like employment training at the San Domingo
Pueblo in New Mexico, a Ranger Corps for search-

T l 11E Economic Opportunity Act did not make

and-rescue services at the Pine Ridge Reservation
in South Dakota and housing de-
velopment at Red Lake Reserva-
tion in Minnesota.

In 1973, along with numer-
ous other initiatives, American
Indian programs were trans-
ferred from the Office of Eco-
nomic Opportunity to the Admin-
istration for Native Americans
(ANA) in the Department of
Health and Human Services.
While other federal agencies pro-
vide specific services (e.g. Indian
Health Service), the Administration for Native
Americans is the one agency serving all Native
Americans including 550 federally recognized
tribal governments, 60 tribes that are state-recog-
nized or seeking federal recognition, all Indian
and Alaskan native organizations, native Hawai-
ian communities and native populations through-
out the Pacific Basin. ANA's budget for FY 1998
was $34.9 million. With these funds it provides
grants, training, and technical assistance to eli-
gible tribes and Native American organizations
representing 2.2 million people.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY:  Administration for
Native Americans, U.S. Department of Health and Hu-
man Services, 370 L'Enfant Promenade, Mail Stop 348F,
SW Washington D.C. 20447-0002; (202) 690-7776;
<www.acf.gov>.




COMMUNITY ACTION

Economic Opportunity Act (EOA) and its

successor legislation, has a
thirty-five year record of assisting
the nation’s poor to achieve self-suf-
ficiency. Ever faithful to the idea that
effective advocacy and change are
developed within the community,
nearly one thousand Community
Action Agencies (CAAs) in all fifty
states and U.S. possessions serve
areas where 98 percent of the
nation’s poor live.

Community Action engages the
entire community, especially low-in-
come residents, in addressing the
causes and conditions of poverty. Its legislation
mandates maximum feasible participation of the
poor in the conception, planning, administration,
delivery and evaluation of anti-poverty programs.
Low-income people elect representatives to serve
on CAA governing boards.

On a national scale, Community Action has
demonstrated the value of involvement by the poor
in the planning and administration of local anti-
poverty programs. This concept has served the
nation well and has become an accepted part of
most social welfare initiatives. Circumventing the
lethargy of local bureaucracies, CAAs quickly
transmuted innovative ideas generated by low-
income communities into practical initiatives.
Successful initiatives found their way into other
CAAsand attimes evolved into national programs.
Through their hiring and training practices, CAAs
nurtured the talents of low-income people in their
communities. Community leaders, whose capa-
bilities had previously been untested and un-
tapped, emerged and often rose to key positions
in the private and public sectors at the local, state
and national levels.

( :OMMUNITY Action, the local flagship of the

“In1967 Congress amended the EOA with the
Green Amendment, which had been sponsored
by Representative Edith Green (D-
Oregon). It provided for greater
control over Community Action
Agencies by local, elected officials.
Among other things, the amend-
ment mandated that CAA govern-
ing boards be structured such that
one-third of the seats were held by
public officials, at least one third
by elected representatives of low-
income people and the remaining
seats by persons from businesses
and other community-based orga-
nizations.

The 1967 amendments established eight na-
tional emphasis programs which could be funded
through Community Action. These included Head
Start, Upward Bound, Follow Through, Legal Ser-
vices, Emergency Food and Medical Services,
Comprehensive Health Services, Family Planning,
and Senior Opportunities and Services.

During President Nixon’s first term, advo-
cates of the Community Action Program were en-
couraged by the appointment of supportive OEO
directors at the national and regional levels. There
was no great concern as several programs were
transferred to other federal departments. However,
shortly after his 1972 reelection, President Nixon
appointed Howard Phillips as acting OEO direc-
tor, and charged him with the task of dismantling
OEO. Two days after his appointment, Phillips

-advised OEO regional offices of their planned clo-

sure. Two months after his appointment, Phillips
issued an OEO instruction to CAAs to cease op-
erations within three months.

The CAA network entered its most controver-
sial period. After months of intensive community
and congressional activity, lawsuits, court rulings




and appeals, Howard Phillips was ordered by
the court to cease the illegal dismantling of OEO.
His own appointment was found to be illegal and
he was forced to resign. Uncertainty over the sur-
vival of Community Action continued until Presi-
dent Ford signed legislation in 1975 creating the
Community Services Administration, the succes-
sor agency to the Office of Economic Opportunity.

With the expiration of the EOA in 1981 and
the passage of the Community Services Block
Grant (CSBG) Act, Community Action entered an-
other new phase. The Office of Community Ser-
vices (OCS) in HHS provided limited federal over-
sight. Although OCS provides core funding
through the CSBG, ninety percent of the funds
administered by Community Action Agencies is
received from other sources.

Community Action continued its develop-
ment into umbrella social service agencies, pre-
cursors to the one-stop centers. Further, Commu-
nity Action Agencies gained the recognition of
local, state and federal officials and the private
sector as responsive, cost-effective delivery sys-
tems.

The proud thirty-five year history of Commu-
nity Action has not been without controversy. At-
tacking the causes and conditions of poverty is
not easy — but that is Community Action’s mis-
sion. By staying faithful to this, Community Ac-

tion has matured, gained tremendous expertise,
proven its worth, and earned bipartisan support
atalllevels of government.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY:  Office of Community
Services, U.S. Department of Health and Human Ser-
vices, 370 L’Enfant Promenade, SW, Fifth Floor East,

Washington, D.C. 20447; (202) 401-9343;
<www.acf.hhs.gov>.

ConsITUENT ORGANIZATIONS:

National Association of Community Action Agencies
1100 17th Street, NW

Suite 500

Washington, D.C. 20036

(202) 265-7546

<www.nacaa.org>

National Community Action Foundation
810 1st Street, NE

Suite 530

Washington, D.C. 20002

(202) 842-2092

<www.ncaf.org>

National Association of State Community Services
Programs

444 North Capitol Street, NW

Suite 221

Washington, DC 20001

(202) 624-5866




CoMMUNITY EcoNomMIC DEVELOPMENT

Community Economic Development pro-
l gram had its beginning in the Special Im-
pactProgram, Title I-D of the Economic Op-
portunity Act, which was added under the 1966
amendments. The Special Impact Program, del-
egated to the Department of Labor (DOL),
launched its first program in 1967 in the Bedford
Stuyvesant section of Brooklyn, NY, making train-
ing and job opportunities available to 4,000 resi-
dents at a cost of $7 million. In 1968, Special Im-
pact was jointly administered by DOL, OEQ, the
Small Business Administration (SBA), and the
Departmentof Agriculture (USDA). That year OEO
made its first direct Special Impact grant to the
Hough Area Development Corporation in Cleve-
land, a community-based grantee which was the
first Community Development Corporation (CDC)
and the first Special Impact grantee to meet the
legislative goals of community participation. The
two-year grant of some $1.5 million was for devel-
opment of a shopping center and related economic
development actitivies.

In 1969, OEO administered a major share of
the Special Impact program — $10 million sup-
ported other CDCs in the Hough mold, including
the Bedford Stuyvesant Restoration Corporation.
On the strength of this record, and with the sup-
port of one of Special Impact’s original sponsors,
Senator Javitz of New York, the entire $30 million
in Special Impact was brought back to OEO in
1970. This was the first and only time that a pro-
gram was transferred back to the agency.

In1972, Special Impact became Part A of Com-
munity Economic Development under a new Title
VII, whose purpose was “to encourage the devel-
opment of special programs by which the resi-
dents of urban and rural low-income areas may,
through self-help and mobilization of the com-

munity at large, with appropriate Federal assis-
tance, improve the quality of their economic and
social participation in community life in such a
way as to contribute to the elimination of poverty
and the establishment of permanent economicand
social benefits.” At the time of the expiration of
the Economic Opportunity Actin 1981, there were
35 Title VII grantee CDCs in operation.

Throughout the 1990s, CAA Community Eco-
nomic Development programs have been funded
largely through discretionary programs adminis-
tered by the Office of Community Services (OCS)
— most CED activities fall within OCS’ Urban
and Rural Community Economic Development
program. Fundingincludes grants for low-income
employment, enterprise opportunities, and own-
ership; partnerships with historically black col-
leges and universities; pre-development activities;
business, physical, or commercial development;
CED administration and management; Commu-
nity Development Corporation (CDC) training
and technical assistance; and rural community
development activities.

Additional CED-related activities are also
conducted through OCS’ Job Opportunities for
Low-Income Individuals (JOLI) program. Fund-
ing includes grants for new job and employment
opportunities through micro-business and self-
employment; new business start-up; business ex-
pansion; and job training and placement support.
$5.5 million in OCS discretionary funding was
allocated for these CED-related activities in FY
1999.

ApmINISTERING AGENCY:  Office of Community
Services, U.S. Department of Health and Human Ser-
vices, 370 L'Enfant Promenade,SW, Washington D.C.
20447; (202) 401-9343; <www.hhs.gov>.




CoMMUNITY Foop AND NUTRITION PROGRAM

portunity Act established the Emergency

Food and Nutrition Program to provide —
on an emergency basis — food, medical supplies
and related services to counteract starvation or
malnutrition among the poor. A $10 million Emer-
gency Food and Medical Services (EFMS) appro-
priation under the program was used to address
conditions of serious malnutrition in 256 priority
counties, provide nutrition-related services in
other counties, expand the Food Stamp program,
and conduct food and nutrition demonstration
programs. The Office of Economic Opportunity
(OEO) worked with the Department of Agricul-
ture and the Department of Health Education and
Welfare in carrying out the legislation.

In 1976, under technical amendments to the
Community Services Act, the medical services
component was dropped. The nutrition compo-
nent was modified to include ongoing advocacy
functions and extend services to migrants, sea-
sonal farmworkers and Native Americans. Inac-
cordance with these changes, Congress changed
the Emergency Food and Nutrition program'’s
name to the Community Food and Nutrition Pro-
gram (CFNP). CFNP’s main objective is to link the
poor to existing food and nutrition programs, not
duplicate their services.

I I 11 1967 amendments to the Economic Op-

During FY 1980 and with a $26 million ap-
propriation level , CENP was carried out locally
by 520 grantees — over two-thirds of which were
Community Action Agencies. As a result of Com-
munity Food and Nutrition Program activities,
participation in federal food programs signifi-
cantly increased and direct food provision was
limited to emergency situations.

The Heritage Foundation was critical of
CFNP, calling it “one of the most politicized of the
CSA programs, consisting largely of...activists’
harassment of state and federal agencies.” The
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981 ter-
minated the program. However, Congress again
reauthorized the program in FY 1987 and appro-
priated $2.5 million annually from 1987 to 1996.
Currently, the CFNP receives an annual appro-
priation of $1.5 million, which is used to fund
thirty-three discretionary projects.

ApmiNiSTERING AGENCY:  Office of Community
Services, U.S. Department of Health and Human Ser-
vices, 370 L'Enfant Promenade, SW, Fifth Floor East,
Washington, D.C. 20447; (202) 401-9343;
<www.acf.hhs.gov>.

CoNsTITUENT ORGANIZATION: Food Research
and Action Center, 1875 Connecticut Avenue, NW,
Suite 504, Washington, D.C. 20009; (202) 986-2200;
<www.frac.org>.




COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH SERVICES

gram, which started as demonstration

projects in 1966, quickly became the cen-
terpiece of the OEO’s health services to the poor.
The 1966 OEO report stated that the Comprehen-
sive Health Services centers were to offer “virtu-
ally all non-hospital medical services for all mem-
bers of a family within one centrally located facil-
ity ina designated poverty community. The coor-
dinated medical services...include preventive
medicine, diagnosis, treatment, dental care, drugs
and appliances, mental health services, family
planning and health education.” These Compre-
hensive Health Centers (CHCs) provided a range
of primary health services with a culturally sensi-
tive, family-oriented focus.

By early 1970, OEO had expanded its sup-
port to approximately 100 neighborhood health
centers. In 1969, The Alcoholic Counseling and
Recovery and Drug Rehabilitation programs were
established as separate programs. In 1973, OEO
transferred all three programs to the Department
of Health, Education and Welfare. Under the 1974
amendments to the Economic Opportunity Act,
the drug and alcohol programs were integrated
into the Comprehensive Health Services program.
Migrant Health Centers were also included in this
integration.

In 1975, Congress amended the Public Health
Service Act with a “Special Health Revenue Shar-
ing Act.” Rather than authorizing comprehensive
health services programs, the new Act established
centers focusing on specific health needs. Thus it
established Comprehensive Public Health Cen-
ters, Community Mental Health Centers, Migrant
Health Centers, Community Health Centers and

I l 1 Comprehensive Health Services Pro-

Family Planning programs. The 1976 amend-
ments to the Economic Opportunity Act eliminated
its provision for comprehensive health services.

Today the Health Resources and Services
Administration, part of the Department of Health
and Human Services, supports a network of 643
community and migrant health centers and 144
health care programs for homeless people and
residents of public housing. Each year, more than
8 million Americans receive care through these
health centers. More than half are members of
working families without health insurance. They
pay for services on a sliding scale based on their
ability to pay and about 40 percent are Medicare
or Medicaid beneficiaries. The FY 1999 appropria-
tion for Consolidated Health Centers was $925
million —a $100 million increase over the prior
fiscal year.

Developed to empower underserved commu-
nities, the Centers respond quickly and effectively
to priority community health problems. They serve
further as a catalyst for economic development in
low-income communities by assuring employers
of the availability of health professionals and fa-
cilities, generating health care jobs, and relying
on local medical suppliers. The Centers continue
to tailor their services to meet the specific needs of
their communities by serving the poor, the home-
less, migrant and seasonal farmworkers, those
infected with HIV/AIDS, the elderly and sub-
stance abusers.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY: Division of Commu-
nity and Migrant Health, Bureau of Primary Health
Care, 4350 East-West Highway, 7th Floor, Bethesda,
MD 20814; (301) 594-4300; <www.bphc.hrsa.gov>.




DEMONSTRATION PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM

(DPP) was authorized under the 1974

amendments to the Economic Opportunity
Act. However, funds were not appropriated and
the program expired with the rest of the Economic
Opportunity Actin1981. The idea was not forgot-
ten and the Demonstration Partnership Program
experienced a rebirth in 1987, when it was reau-
thorized under the Community Services Block
Grant (CSBG) legislation. Program appropriations
for the fiscal years of 1987, 1988 and 1989 grew
respectively from $1 million to $2.87 million to
$3.5 million. DPP marked the firstappearance of
a research and development component under the
Community Services Block Grant.

President Reagan established the framework
for the Demonstration Partnership Program in his
1986 State of the Union Address when he called
for “experiments in welfare policy through state-
sponsored and community-based demonstration
projects.” In his 1988 State of the Union Address
President Reagan again stressed the need to re-
solve the problems of welfare and dependency by
drawing on “a thousand sparks of genius in fifty
states and a thousand communities around the
nation. It is time to nurture them and see which
ones can catch fire and become guiding lights.”

Over an eight-year period (1987-1994), the
Office of Community Services funded over one
hundred innovative projects through the Demon-

T I e Demonstration Partnership Program

stration Partnership Program. The program per-
mitted Community Action Agencies to implement,
evaluate and, where appropriate, replicate inno-
vative approaches to foster self-sufficiency among
low-income individuals and communities. Ini- . -
tially, the Office of Community Services provided
grants matching local funding. This meanta con-
siderable investment by Community Action Agen- =
cies in finding public and private partners in their
communities.

The demonstrations fell into five categories:
case management, micro-enterprise development,
minority males, homelessness and at-risk youth.
To document the lessons learned through the
demonstrations, the Office of Community Services
required Community Action Agencies to report
on the results of project operations and sponsor
formal studies by independent evaluators. By
1989, 35 Community Action Agencies were ad-
ministering the DPP. The Office of Community
Services in HHS issued a series of monographs in
the early 1990s highlighting the experiences of
selected projects.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY:  Office of Community
Services, U.S. Department of Health and Human Ser-
vices, 370 L'Enfant Promenade, SW, Fifth Floor East,
Washington, D.C. 20447, (202) 401-9343;
<www.acf.hhs.gov>.




ENERGY ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

had its origins in the Great Energy Crisis of

1973. As the cost of fuel soared and short-
ages became more serious, the poor found them-
selves often without access to fuel, or when it was
available, at prices that literally forced them to
choose between food and heat. In the first years of
the crisis OEO responded by encouraging CAAs
and other grantees to reprogram funds to try and
avoid the worst hardships. By the winter of 1979-
1980 the price of fuel oil had quadrupled and the
price of natural gas had tripled.

In the meantime, in 1975 Section 222 (a) (12)
was added to the Economic Opportunity Act, cre-
ating the Emergency Energy Conservation Ser-
vices. The fist appropriations under the section
came at the end of the fiscal year, and made a few
million dollars available for “Crisis Intervention”
activities to assist families without fuel or faced
with shut-off or other energy emergencies. ltwas
only after the severe winter of 1976-77 that Con-
gress, in a second supplemental appropriation in
June 1977, provided the first of three successive
$200 million appropriations for fuel payment as-
sistance for the poor. Called the “Special Crisis
Intervention Program” it served over 1 million
households over three summer months, Compa-
rable programs were carried outin 1978 and 1979.

In 1980, the appropriations level for the pro-
gram, known as the Energy Crisis Assistance Pro-
gram (ECAP), rose to $400 million; and in 1981
was jointly administered by the Community Ser-
vices Administration and the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services (HHS) as the Low-
Income Home Energy Assistance Program
(LIHEAP) at a level of $1.2 billion. With the de-
mise of CSA, LTIHEAP moved to HHS where it was

I I Vs OEO/ CSA Energy Assistance Program

funded at a level of $1.85 billion in 1982, serving
7.1 million households that year. Even so, this
was less than 35 percent of those eligible under
the legislation; and by FY 1989 the program fund-
ing was down to $1.44 billion, serving about a
million fewer households at lower levels than in
1982.

In 1999, $1.1 billion is available in LTHEAP
funds and an additional $300 million in emer-
gency contingency funds is also available pend-
ing a presidential-declared emergency due to
weather, supply shortages, etc. Mostof these funds
are administered at the local level by Community
Action Agencies and Indian tribes. Some $27.5
million of these funds is earmarked for leveraging
incentive awards to reward grantees that add
nonfederal resources to help low-income house-
holds meet their home heating and cooling needs.
Up to 25 percent of the leveraging incentive ap-
propriation funds grants to LIHEAP grantees un-
der the Residential Energy Assistance Challenge
(REACH) Option Program to develop innovative
programs reducing the energy vulnerability of
LIHEAP eligible households. LIHEAP funds pro-
vide home heating and cooling assistance to more
than 2.2 million households.

ADMINISTERING AGency:  OCS/Division of En-
ergy Assistance (DEA), 370 L'Enfant Promenade, SW,
Washington, D.C. 20447; (202) 401-9351;
<www.hhs.gov>.

~ Constrruent OrGanizaTions:  National Center
for Appropriate Technology (NCAT), P.O. Box 3838,
Butte, MT 59702.

National Community Action Foundation, 810 First
Street, NE, Suite 530, Washington, D.C. 20002; (202)
842-2092.




FosTER (GRANDPARENTS

under contract with OEOQ, prepared a report

titled, “A Model Community
Action Program to Employ Older
People as Aides to Work With Very
Young Children.” The report pro-
posed “Project TLC” to serve the
poor at both ends of the age scale,
the very young and the elderly.
Project TLC became the Foster
Grandparents program and was
initiated in 1965 under an OEO
contract with the Administration
on Aging (AoA).

In 1966, there were 2,500 low-income Foster
Grandparents giving two hours a day of “tender
loving care” to poor children. By 1967, the pro-
gram had expanded to 38 states with nearly four
thousand Foster Grandparents serving nearly
eight thousand children. Administratively, the
program has been transferred several times —
from OEOQ to the Administration on Aging in 1969,
from AoA to ACTION in1971 and, mostrecently,
to the Corporation for National Service. In spite
of all these transfers, Foster Grandparents is liv-
ing proof that you cannot keep a good program
down. Foster Grandparents gained fame as former
First Lady Nancy Reagan’s favorite program.

The Foster Grandparents program offers se-

IN May 1965, the National Council on Aging,

niors an opportunity to serve as mentors, tutors,
and loving caregivers to children and youth with
special needs. They serve in com-
munity organizations such as
schools, hospitals, Head Start,
and youth centers. Foster Grand-
parents must meet income eligi-
bility requirements; once ac-
cepted into the program seniors
serve for twenty hours per week
and receive small stipends.

In1997, federal grants for lo-
cal projects totaled $77 million.
An additional $32 million in
nonfederal funding was generated. Combined,
these funds supported over 25 thousand volun-
teers, who served over 175 thousand children in
305 projects. Foster Grandparents contributed
nearly 24 million hours of volunteer services. If
one valued these priceless hours at the minimum
wage ($5.15/hour), that would translate into ap-
proximately $124 million.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY: National Senior Ser-
vice Corps, Foster Grandparents Program, Corpora-
tion for National Service, 1201 New York Avenue,
NW, Washington, D.C. 20525; (202) 606-5000;
<WWW.Cns.gov>.
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HEeAD START

EAD Start is perhaps the best known and

universally supported Economic Oppor-

tunity Act program. Using
“versatile” funds from the Commu- -
nity Action Program, OEO launched
itas an eight-week summer program
in 1965. Head Start was designed to
help break the cycle of poverty by pro-
viding a comprehensive program that
would meet the emotional, educa-
tional, health, nutritional, and psy-
chological needs of preschool chil-
dren from low-income families.

. Since its inception, Head Start
has experienced steady growth,
evolving from the summer program
to an eight month, and in some instances, a full-
year program. In April 1969, Head Start was trans-
ferred from the Office of Economic Opportunity to
the Department of Health, Education and Wel-
fare (HEW) . The program prospered under HEW
and its successor, the Department of Health and
Human Services (HHS).

Congressional appropriations for Head Start
increased from $96.4 million in FY 1965 to $4.7
billion in FY 1999. In 1998, Head Start had 793,809
children enrolled in urban and rural areas in all
fifty states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico,
and U.S. possessions. From 1965 to 1999, the pro-
gram has served over 17 million children and their
families.

For the 1996-97 period, HHS reported that:

+ 13 percent of the Head Start enrollment con-
sisted of children with disabilities;

* 90 percentof Head Start teachers had degrees
in early childhood education or Child
Development Associate (CDA) credentials;

¢ 571 programs operated a home-based pro-
gram,

* 4,562 home visitors provided home-based ser-
vices to 39,833 children;

¢ 30 percentof Head Start staff were
parents of current or former Head
Start children;

+ 808,147 parents served as volun-
teers in the Head Start program;
and

¢ 61 percent of Head Start families
had annual incomes of less than
$9000 and 77.7 percent had
annual incomes of less than
$12,000.

Currently, over 70 percent of the
nearly 1000 Community  Action
Agencies administer Head Startas an important
component of their comprehenswe servicesin their
communities.

In 1994, Head Start established Early Head
Start, a program for low-income pregnant women
and families with infants and toddlers. The pro-
gram provides early, continuous, intensive and
comprehensive child development and family
support services to low-income families with chil-
dren under the age of three. In 1995, 68 appli-
cants were selected to serve more than 5,000 chil-
dren and families in 34 states, the District of Co-
lumbia, and Puerto Rico. In1966, 74 new appli-
cants were selected to serve an additional 5,000
children in eight states. Appropriations for Early
Head Start were $47.2 million in FY 1995 and $87.2
million in FY 1996.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY: U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services, ACF/ ACYF/HSB, Wash-
ington, D.C. 20201; (202) 279-6800;
<www.acf.dhhs.gov>.

ConsITUENT ORGANIZATION: Head Start Asso-
ciation, 1651 Prince Street, Alexandria, VA 22314; (703)
739-0875.
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HousINg

OUSING programs, as part of service deliv-
Hery in Community Action Agencies, de-

veloped primarily with funding from the
Office of Economic Opportunity, the Community
Services Administration and the Office of Com-
munity Services. They began as specific projects
under the Special Impact Program (Title I-D), au-
thorized under the 1966 amendments to the Eco-
nomic Opportunity Act. A number of Community
Action Agencies formed Housing Development
Corporations and became adept at identifying
other sources of financial support.

The scope of CA A-sponsored affordable hous-
ing has grown dramatically over time. In the 1970s,
Community Action Agencies took a leadership
role in providing housing-related services through
weatherization and the Low-Income Home En-
ergy Assistance Program. Through the McKinney
Act, agencies have provided greater access to lim-
ited transitional housing as part of their family
development/self-sufficiency programs. The
availability of low-income housing tax credits has
also aided the housing initiatives of Community
Action Agencies.

Today over half of the nearly one thousand
Community Action Agencies are involved insome
component of affordable housing. Many have
achieved designation as Community Housing De-
velopment Organizations (CHDOs), thus allow-
ing them access to an array of financial resources.

Although the Community Services Block
Grantand the Urban and Rural Economic Devel-
opment program underwrite significant housing
activities, most housing ventures undertaken by

Community Action Agencies are supported by
other funding sources. For example, according to
the National Association for State Community Ser-
vices Programs (NASCSP), in 1996, Community
Action Agencies mobilized $392 million in sup-
port of their housing activities; of this, less than
seven percent ($26 million) came from the Office
of Community Services. Additional funding came
from other agencies of the Department of Health
and Human Services, the Department of Housing
and Urban Development, and a variety of non-
federal public and private sources.

According to recent surveys, Community
Action Agencies consider their housing programs
among the top five most effective strategies for re-
ducing poverty. These programs include housing
counseling, assistance in finding affordable hous-
ing, home repair and rehabilitation and develop-
ment of affordable housing. Community Action
Agencies are recognized as key players in provid-
ing decent, safe, and affordable housing. Many
Community Action Agencies receive national
housing awards for their efforts.

ADpMINISTERING AGeNCY:  Office of Community
Services, Administration for Children and Families,
Department of Health and Human Services, 370
L’Enfant Promenade, SW, Washington, D.C. 20447;
(202) 401-9343; <www.acf.hhs.gov>.

CoNsTITUENT ORGANIZATION: National Asso-
ciation of Community Action Agencies, 1100 17th Street
NW, Suite 500, Washington D.C. 20036; (202) 265-7546;
<www.nacaa.org>.
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JoB Corprs

Johnson’s ambitious promise thata “new na-

tional Job Corps will build toward the enlist-
ment of 100,000 young men [who]
will be drawn from those whose back-
ground, health and education make
them least fitfor useful work.... [They]
willemerge better qualified to play a
productive role in American society.”
Since its beginning, the program has
provided integrated academic, voca-
tional, and social skills training to
more than 1.7 million disadvantaged
youth.

The program, authorized by the
Economic Opportunity Act of 1964, was initially
administered by the Office of Economic Opportu-
nity. The Job Corps program operates through a
partnership of the government with labor and
private sectors. Controversy and struggle marked
the program’s growth. Young men and women
were placed at Job Corps centers, which were of-
ten far from their homes. The centers also faced
opposition from local communities — opposition
that new military bases often experience in com-
munities.

From a high of 106 centers in 1966, the pro-
gram was cut back to fifty-six in 1969. In that year
the program was delegated to the Department of
Labor. Later, new centers were established closer
to the nation’s urban centers and offered a wider
range of training and employment services.

In 1973, Congress reauthorized the Job Corps
under Title IV of the Comprehensive Employment
and Training Act (CETA). In 1982, the program
was given permanent reauthorization under the
Job Training Partnership Act (JTPA). The pro-
gram is now authorized under provisions of the
Workforce Investment Act, which replaced the

IN 1964, the Job Corps fulfilled President

JIPA.

Major corporations, such as Teledyneand ITT,
operate 81 Job Corps centers under contracts with
the U.S. Department of Labor. Thirty
centers, known as civilian conser-
vation centers, are located on fed-
eral lands and are operated by the
Departments of Agriculture and the
Interior. Labor unions and trade as-
sociations conduct vocational train-
ing at many Job Corps centers. Itis
the nation’s largest residential edu-
cation and training program for dis-
advantaged youth. The program is
a full-time, year-round residential
program thatoffers a comprehensive array of train-
ing, education and supportive services, includ-
ing supervised dormitory housing, meals, medi-
cal care; and counseling.

The typical Job Corps student is an 18-year
old high-school dropout who reads at the sev-
enth grade level, belongs to a minority group, and
has never held a fuil-time job. Approximately 70
percent of Job Corps enrollees are members of mi-
nority groups; 80 percent are high school drop-
outs, and over 40 percent come from families on
public assistance. In FY 1999, Job Corps received
$1.2 billion in appropriations to serve 69,700 par-
ticipants at 118 centers. Over 40 percent of Job
Corps students complete vocational training and
over 70 percent of Job Corps students are placed
injobs or enrolled in full-time education.

ADMINISTERING AGEncYy:  Office of Job Corps
Programs, Employment and Training Administration,
U.S. Department of Labor, 200 Constitution Avenue,
NW, Washington, D.C. 20210; (202) 219-8550;

<www.doleta.gov>.
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LEGAL SERVICES

OEO, was one of the earliest and most con-

troversial programs. Since the 1800s, bar
associations had operated legal aid
programs for the indigent with vary-
ing degrees of success in getting local
support. The Legal Services program,
established by OEO in 1965, marked
the first time that the federal govern-
ment sought to provide direct civil rep-
resentation for the poor in legal mat-
ters. In the beginning, Legal Services
was administered as part of the Com-
munity Action Program.

The program grew rapidly, and in
1966, OEO made grants of approximately $23 mil-
lion. These grants provided support for 157 Legal
Services projects with over one thousand full-time
attorneys in more than five hundred offices. The
local Legal Services offices provided legal advice
and services to the poor in 43 states and in 37 of
the nation’s fifty largest cities. The 1967 amend-
ments to the Economic Opportunity Act desig-
nated Legal Services as a separate program under
the newly established section on “Special Pro-
grams and Assistance” (Section 222 (a)).

By 1967, Congress had increased its appro-
priation to over $25 million, enabling OEO to ex-
pand the program even more. Typically, Legal
Services cases involved family problems such as
divorce, non-supportand adoption; juvenile prob-
lems; consumer protection; landlord/ tenant dis-
putes; housing code violations; public housing
difficulties; and issues relating to welfare, social
security and other benefit programs.

Legal Services advocates considered their pro-
gram to be different in nature from other Commu-
nity Action Programs. The director of the national
Legal Services office endeavored to remove it from
the purview of the national CAP office, the OEO
regional offices and local Community Action

T I 1:E Legal Services program, developed by

Agencies. In1969, OEO Director Donald Rumsfeld
elevated Legal Services to the status of an inde-
pendent operating division reporting directly to
him.

Steady and gradual growth
brought the annual appropriation to
$71.5 million in 1972, However, con-
cerns were raised over the involvement
of legal services attorneys in “politics”
and the tendency to resort to class ac-
tion lawsuits. In December 1970, Gov-
ernor Ronald Reagan (R-CA) vetoed
the grant to the California Rural Legal
Services program. Eventually OEO Di-
rector Phillip Sanchez overrode the
governor’s veto and approved the grant.

In 1974, after several years of inconclusive
debate, Congress enacted the Legal Services Cor-
poration Act. This Act removed the program from
OEOQ altogether and established the Legal Services
Corporation, which in turn funds non-profit
groups to provide civil legal representation for
low-income people.

Appropriations for the Legal Services Corpo-
ration increased dramatically from $79 million in
1976 to $295 million in 1981. The corporation ex-
tended its services to previously underserved ar-
eas, especially in rural communities and parts of
the South. In the 1980s, Congress continued to
appropriate funds even though President
Reagan’s budgets requested zero funding in seven
of his eight years in office. In 1997, with an appro-
priation of $283 million, the Legal Service
Corporation’s 269 local programs served almost
two million clients in 917 offices across the coun-

try.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY:  Legal Services Corpo-
ration, 750 First St. NE, 11th Floor, Washington, D.C.
20002-4250; (202) 336-8800; <www.lsc.gov>.
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MiGRANT OPPORTUNITIES

1964, the plight of millions of migrantand
seasonal farmworkers who followed crop
largely

l )RIOR to the Economic Opportunity Act of

seasons throughout the country was
ignored. Title III-B of the Act ad-
dressed a broad spectrum of migrant
and seasonal farmworker problems.
With a budget of $15 million in FY
1965, the Office of Economic Oppor-
tunity (OEO) developed projects for
migrant and seasonal farmworkers
including housing, education, sani-
tation services, and day care.
Initially, OEO staff had to ap-
proach public and private organiza-

tions to accept the grants. However, over time, the

network of migrant and seasonal farmworker or-
ganizations grew and now exists inalmost every
state. OEO’s Migrant and Seasonal Farmworker
programs raised the nation’s consciousness about
the problems migrant and seasonal farmworkers
face. The programs included General Education
Development (GED or high-school equivalency),
day care, temporary and self-help housing, em-
ployment training, consumer awareness, sanita-
tion, and the development of economic alterna-
tives to farm labor. OEO grantees also assisted
migrant and seasonal farmworkers in obtaining
services and benefits from other programs such
as welfare, Food Stamps, and Medicaid.

The programs were transferred to the Depart-
ment of Labor in 1973, They became part of the
Comprehensive Employment and Training Act
and later the Job Training Partnership Act.

Funds for migrant and seasonal farworkers
programs are allocated to states according to a
population-based formula. In the Department of
Labor’s 1997 program year (July 1 to June 30), the
Employment and Training Administration made
58 farmworker grants totaling $69.3 million. An

estimated 47,000 persons received assistance with
employment, training, and other support services.
The Health Resources and Services Adminis-
tration in the U.S. Department of Health and Hu-
man Services (HHS) supports Mi-
grant and Seasonal Farmworker
Health Centers and other programs
providing health services to mi-
grant and seasonal farmworkers. In
FY 1997, grantawards totaled $66.4
million. During that year, 122 local
programs served about 600,000 mi-
grants, seasonal farmworkers and
their families.
The Office of Migrant Educa-
tion in the Department of Education provides
grants to states on a formula basis to support mi-
grant and seasonal farmworker education ser-
vices like high school equivalency, college assis-
tance, and bilingual instruction. In FY 1997, the
grants totaled $299.5 million and served approxi-
mately 700,000 students in 3,500 local school dis-
tricts.

ADMINISTERING AGENCIES!

Employment and Training Administration, U.S.
Department of Labor, Room N-4641, 200 Constitu-
tion Avenue, NW, Washington D.C.; (202) 219-5500;
<www.doleta.gov>.

Migrant Health Branch, Bureau of Primary Health
Care, Health Resources and Services Administration,
Department of Health and Human Services, 4350 East-
West Highway, Bethesda, MD 20814; (301) 594-4303;
<www.hhs.gov>.

Office of Migrant Education, Department of Edu-
cation, 1250 Maryland Avenue, SW, Portals Building,
Room 4100, Washington, D.C. 20202; (202) 260-1164;
<www.ed.gov>.
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NATIONAL YOUTH SPORTS PROGRAM

began as a pilot and demonstration pro-

gram in 1967 and continued as such for
the next two years. It was designed to provide
disadvantaged youth with opportunities for rec-
reation, physical fitness instruction, and compe-
tition. It accomplished this by bringing disadvan-
taged youth to college campuses for instruction
by college educators and athletes during the sum-
mer months. The program included close super-
vision, education, and counseling services. It was
administered by the National Collegiate Athletic
Association (NCAA) through its member colleges
and universities.

OEO delegated the program to the President’s
Council on Physical Fitness where it remained
until 1975. After 1975, it was returned to NCAA
and its programs were funded directly by OEO's
successor agency, the Community Services Ad-
ministration. At that time the name was changed
to the National Youth Sports Program (NYSP). In
1981, this and other programs became part of the
CSBG Act, and its administration was transferred
to the Office of Community Services.

The NYSP requires that at least 90 percent of
its participants are economically disadvantaged
and fail within the U.S. poverty guidelines. The

I I Vi National Summer Youth Sports Program

NYSP staff includes physical education instruc-
tors, coaches, elementary and secondary school
teachers, college students, and administrators, The
program offers mandatory swimming lessons plus
instruction in at least two other sports. The NYSP
stresses the value of an active lifestyle and special
empbhasis is placed on sports played by adults
after their school-age years such as bowling, bad-
minton, tennis and golf. Some sites include aero-
bics and dance as well. Participants are taught
about the dangers of drug abuse and are given
nutritional education. They are exposed to the fa-
cilities and opportunities available in institutions
of higher learning.

Under the NCAA, 182 institutions in forty-
six states and Washington D.C. serve nearly sev-
enty thousand youth each year. In a number of
sites (78 in 1998), math and science programs have
been added to the program. For FY 1997, Con-
gress appropriated $12 million for the National
Youth Sports Program.

ApmiNISTERING AGency:  Office of Community
Services, Administration for Children and Families,
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 370
L'Enfant Promenade, SW, Washington, D.C. 20047;
(202) 401-9333; <www.hhs.gov>.
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NEigGHBORHOOD YouTtH CORPS

tablished anti-poverty programs that were

delegated to old-line agen-
cies from the start, although for the
smost part these agencies were ex-
. pected to coordinate closely with
. the Office of Economic Opportunity
(OEO) and to operate locally
through Community Action Agen-
cies. One example is the Neighbor-
- hood Youth Corps under Title I,
which was delegated by OEO to the
Department of Labor. The program
was designed to provide useful
work experiences to young people between the
ages of 16 and 21.

. The Neighborhood Youth Corps had three
main components including programs for in-
school youth, out-of-school and unemployed
youth, and a summer component for both groups.
The summer program was the largest component.
A smaller part of the program offered 10 hours
per week of employment and training to low-in-
come youth in school. Similar training with the
GED program was offered to high school drop-
outs. By the end of 1968 the program had reached
over 1.5 million young people.

To coordinate the Department’s burgeoning
training and education programs, in February
1963, Labor Secretary Willard Wirtz established
the Manpower Administration (MA), which ab-
sorbed the Neighborhood Youth Corps. At the
1966 Neighborhood Youth Corps National Con-
ference in St. Louis, Missouri, Secretary of Labor
Wirtz paid tribute to the role of Community Ac-
tion Agencies in the program. “We must make

T I 11E Economic Opportunity Act of 1964 es-

sure that each individual gets the maximum pos-
sible benefit from his Neighborhood Youth Corps
experience..This takes money.
Even more, it takes imagination,
energy and the combined efforts
of a whole community. More and
more the Community Action
Agencies are providing this
leadership...”

The NYC was subsequently
integrated into the Department
of Labor’s Bureau of Work train-
ing programs along with anum-
ber of new programs. The Nixon
administration attempted to end the program in
the 1970s by impounding its funding. Legal ac-
tion brought by Community Action Agencies and
others halted this attempt. Authorization for the
Neighborhood Youth Corps continued under the
Comprehensive Employment and Training Act,
the Job Training Partnership Act, and most re-
cently, the Workforce Investment Act.

The program prospered until the 1980s and
had its largest funding under the Carter adminis-
tration. The level of funding steadily declined
thereafter. The program is currently administered
by the Employmentand Training Administration,
but in a diminished role under provisions of the
recently modified job training block grants in
which state and locally appointed boards set pri-
orities.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY: Employment and
Training Administration, U. S. Department of Labor,
200 Constitution Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C.

20210; (202) 919-8550; <www.dol.gov>,
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OPERATION MAINSTREAM

PERATION Mainstream, which was estab-
Oh'shed under Title I of the Economic Op-

portunity Act, began as a demonstration
program to employ the low-income elderly in com-
munity service jobs. The Office of Economic Op-
portunity (OEO) awarded grants to the National
Farmers Union’s Green Thumb program to carry
out Operation Mainstream for the rural poor ages
55 years and over. In 1967, OEO transferred ad-
ministrative responsibility for Operation Main-
stream to the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL).
That year, while maintaining rural coverage
through Green Thumb, the Department expanded
the program to urban areas through contracts with
national organizations on aging.

In 1973, Operation Mainstream's legislative
authority and $10 million in appropriations were
shifted from the Economic Opportunity Actto Title
IX of the Older Americans Act. The program con-
tinued to be administered by DOL. By 1975, the
Department was also administering a similar pro-
gram — the newly authorized Senior Community
Service Employment Program. On July 1, 1975,
the two programs were merged under the name,
Senior Community Service Employment Program
(SCSEP).

Legislative amendments in 1978 redesignated
Title IX as Title V of the Older Americans Act.
Eligibility for the program was modified to include
persons with incomes at or below 125 percent of
the poverty line. Appropriations had been in-
creased to $55.9 million by 1976 and $401 million
by 1996.

The SCSEP is administered nationally by
DOL, and is operational in all fifty states, the Dis-
trict of Columbia, and U.S. possessions. State Of-
fices on Aging and ten national organizations
provide direct program sponsorship. The national
organizations are La Asociacion Nacional Para
Personas Mayores, the National Center on Black
Aged, Inc., the National Council on the Aging, the
American Association of Retired Persons, the
National Council of Senior Citizens, Green
Thumb, Inc., the National Urban League, Inc., the
National Pacific/ Asian Resource Council on Ag-
ing, the National Indian Council on Aging, and
the U.S. Department of Agriculture’s Forest Ser-
vice. Local projects are administered by public and
private sponsors, many of which are Community
Action Agencies.

The program offers counseling, on-the-job
training, education, career planning, resume as-
sistance, and placement services to unemployed
seniors fifty-five or older who meet the poverty
guidelines. SCSEP participants are placed in com-
munity service training positions, and are paid
for twenty hours of work per week at the mini-
mum wage. The SCSEP has a current appropria-
tion of $435 million and serves over 55,000 low-
income, unemployed seniors annually. Each year
SCSEP assists over twenty-five percent of these
seniors in gaining unsubsidized employment.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY:  Employment and
Training Administration, U. S. Department of Labor,
200 Constitution Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C.
20210; (202) 919-8550; <www.dol.gov>.
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SENIOR OPPORTUNITIES AND SERVICES

gram (SOS) was added as a national em-

phasis program under the 1967 amend-
ments to the Economic Opportunity Act. The pro-
gram had a goal of promoting self-sufficiency
among low-income seniors through outreach, in-
formation and referral, advocacy, transportation,
and employment programs.

The director of the Office of Economic Oppor-
tunity (OEO) undertook investigations and stud-
ies to develop innovative programs for the eld-
erly; the Foster Grandparents and Operation
Mainstream programs evolved from SOS. New
initiatives such as Medicare Alert and Project Find
became the means for locating low-income eld-
erly persons and advising them of available ser-
vices and benefits.

Under the auspices of a research and demon-
stration study funded by the National Institutes
of Health, a Northeast Nebraska Community Ac-
tion Agency (CAA) proved the favorable impact

r l Y1z Senior Opportunities and Services pro-

of nutrition services and social activities upon the
elderly. The study conducted by this CAA and
other organizations persuaded Congress to au-
thorize the massive Elderly Nutrition Program
under Title I of the Older Americans Act.

Many of the SOS initiatives that include the
concept of senior centers were incorporated into
aging programs conducted under provisions of
the Older Americans Act, and are now animpor-
tant part of the Area Agencies on Aging. Commu-
nity Action Agencies, in their service to the low-
income community, continue as advocates forand
service providers to the elderly.

The Senior Opportunities and Services Pro-
gram wasadministered by OEO and the Commu-
nity Services Act until the passage of the Commu-
nity Services Block Grant under the Omnibus Bud-
get Reconciliation Act of 1981. At that time the
authorization for the Senior Opportunities and
Services program under Section 222(a)(2) of the
Economic Opportunity Act expired.
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StAaTE EcoNnomic OrporTUNITY OFFICES

volved state governments in anti-poverty

programming, though to a limited extent.
Section 231 of the Act provided governors with
financial assistance to fund state technical assis-
tance agencies, better known as State Economic
Opportunity Offices (SEOOs). These SEOOs ad-
vised the governor and federal officials on pov-
erty conditions and the impact of local anti-pov-
erty programs, provided technical assistance to
low-income communities, and helped coordinate
anti-poverty efforts at the state level. Although the
Office of Economic Opportunity (OEO) directly
funded Community Action Agencies, SEOOs of-
ten served as a link between CAAs and state and
local, elected officials.

The majority of SEOO directors were guber-
natorial appointees who served as advocates of
low-income people at the governors’ cabinet meet-
ings. This vantage point often enabled SEOOs to
gain the support and cooperation of other state
agencies on behalf of Community Action Agen-
cies and their clientele. The Act gave governors
the opportunity to veto proposed OEO grants and
they often relied on their SEOO directors for ad-
vice. During the attempted dismantling of OEO
programs during the early seventies, the SEOOs
mobilized the critically needed support of the gov-
ernors and state legislators.

T l TuE Economic Opportunity Act of 1964 in-

The responsibilities of the SEOOs remained
unchanged with the passage of the Community
Services Act (CSA) of 1974. The passage of the
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) of
1981, however, significantly enlarged the respon-
sibilities of SEOQOs. The provisions of OBRA and
its Community Services Block Grant resulted in
the elimination of the Community Services Ad-
ministration and the creation of a new Office of
Community Services in the Department of Health
and Human Services. The Office of Community
Services administered the Community Services
Block Grant and assumed other residual func-
tions of OEO and CSA. At the state level, SEOOs
were renamed State Community Services Program
Offices.

Since 1981, Community Action Agencies
have received their CSBG funding through the State
Community Services Program Offices. These state
offices continue to support Community Action
Agencies with technical assistance, state level
coordination, and program evaluation.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY:  Office of Community
Services, U.S. Department of Health and Human Ser-
vices, 370 L'Enfant Promenade, SW, Fifth Floor East,
Washington, D.C. 20447; (202) 401-9333;
<www.hhs.gov>.
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UprwARrRD BOUND

PWARD Bound, a pre-college program, as-
l l sists economically disad-

vantaged stu-dents in com-
pleting high school and entering
and succeeding in post-secondary
education. The Office of Economic
Opportunity (OEO) program, autho-
rized by Section 222 of the Eco-
nomic Opportunity Act of 1964, ini-
tially funded 18 demonstration pro-
grams in 1965.  Based on that suc-
cessful experience, the following
year OEO made grants to over 200
universities, colleges, junior colleges, and second-
ary schools to serve over 20,000 students in the
year-long program. :

The pre-college demonstration program in-
cluded a six to eight week residential summer ten-
ure on a college campus and involved academic,
cultural and recreational activities. Medical and
dental care and, when needed, psychological
counseling, were provided. Undergraduate stu-
dents, living in the college dormitories with the
Upward Bound students, served as tutors and
personal counselors:

Follow-up support for Upward Bound par-
ticipants during the school year included aca-
demic instruction, tutoring, and counseling ses-
sions in the evenings and on weekends. Ninety-
five percent of the participants in the 1966 sum-
mer program continued in the follow-up course
through the school year.

In the summer of 1967, 83 percent of the 5717
Upward Bound students had been admitted to

institutions of higher learning or had their appli-

cations pending; and less than one
percent had beenrefused college ad-
mission. In 1969, the Upward Bound
program was transferred to the De-
partment of Health, Education and
Welfare; and it was again transferred
in1979 — this time to the newly cre-
ated Department of Education.

By 1989, 37,000 students partici-
pated in 470 Upward Bound pro-
grams across the nation. A Math-Sci-
ence program was incorporated into
Upward Bound that same year. Program funding
in FY 1987 was $75.3 million. Although the
Reagan administration requested a 43 percent re-
duction in funding for FY 1988, Congress in-
creased appropriations to $83.3 million, and to
$94 million in FY 1989.

Today, Upward Bound is the largest and old-
est of the Department of Education’s seven TRIO
programs (TRIO was derived from the three ini-
tial programs — Upward Bound, Talent Search,
and Student Support Services) serving disadvan-
taged youth and children of recent immigrants.
Currently, the program serves 44,495 students in
679 Upward Bound programs in all fifty states,
Puerto Rico, and U.S. possessions. Current ap-
propriations are at the $211 million level.

ApMINISTERING AGENcY:  Higher Education
Preparation and Support/TRIO, Office of Post Sec-
ondary Education, U.S. Department of Education, 400
Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, D.C. 20202; (202)
708-4804; <www.ed.gov>.
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VISTA

dent Kennedy organized a small group

headed by Attorney General Robert F.
Kennedy to determine the feasibility of a domestic
volunteer service program. This led to the devel-
opment of the Volunteers in Service to America
(VISTA) program, which was authorized under
Title VII of the Economic Opportunity
Act of 1964.

On December 12, 1964, four
months after the legislation was en-
acted, President and Lady Bird
Johnson welcomed the first group of
twenty VISTA volunteers to the White
House. The Presidentsaid, “Your pay
will be low; the conditions of your la-
bor often will be difficult. But you will
have the satisfaction of leading a great
national effort and you will have the ultimate re-
ward which comes to those who serve their fel-
low man.”

Between 1964 and 1971, VISTA volunteers
were recruited from communities and college cam-
puses across the country and assigned to projects
far from their homes. As experience with poverty
issues grew, VISTA also recruited lawyers, doc-
tors, and architects to work in underserved areas.
Ranging in age from eighteen to eighty-one, they
served in places as diverse as Appalachian hollers,
Navajo reservations, East Harlem, West Oakland,
and the Rio Grande Valley. They lived and work
with low-income communities to help improve
local conditions. VISTA volunteers were often
placed at Community Action Agencies and Job

f ; oon after the Peace Corps was created, Presi-

Corps centers throughout the country.

By the end of 1967, there were over 3,000 vol-
unteers in 412 projects in 48 states, the District of
Columbia, the Virgin Islands, and Puerto Rico.

OnJuly1,1971, VISTA was transferred from
OEO to a new volunteer-oriented agency, AC-
TION. By this date many more VISTA volunteers
themselves were low-income people
working in their own communities.
In many VISTA projects there was a
mix of local and “national” volun-
teers that brought new vitality to the
program. During the Reagan ad-
ministration, national recruiting
and training units were dismantled,
though grassroots support kept the
basic structure and empowerment
philosophy alive. National recruit-
ment was virtually eliminated; volunteers were
recruited locally and served in their own commu-
nities.

With the advent of the 1990s, the spirit of
volunteerism was rekindled and national recruit-
ment was revived. The National and Community
Service Trust Act of 1993, a priority of President
Clinton, absorbed VISTA and other programs of
the ACTION agency into a new quasi-federal
agency, the Corporation for National Service. Cur-
rently, about 5,000 AmeriCorps*VISTA volunteers
serve at over 1,000 non-profit or public agencies.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY: Volunteers in Service
to America, Corporation for National Service, 1201
New York Avenue, NW, Ninth Floor, Washington,
D.C. 20525; (202) 606-5000; <www.cns.gov>,
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WEATHERIZATION

ost poor people live in dwellings that

are older and without adequate insula-

A.tion, even by pre-energy crisis stan-

dards. Many live in dilapidated housing with no

insulation at all, with broken windows and gaps

below doors or around frames. When the oil em-

bargo of 1973 caused fuel prices to soar during

the Great Energy Crisis, the poor faced a genuine

catastrophe which forced many of them to choose
between food and heat.

In the fall of 1973, the Office of Economic Op-
portunity (OEO) responded with the nation’s first
weatherization program, Project F.U.E.L., which
was funded through the Maine State Economic
Opportunity Office. Project Fuel insulated low-
income homes in Maine. In the same winter of
1973-74 OEO regional offices diverted funds to
support a number of assistance programs in the
colder states, including both weatherization and
programs of emergency fuel assistance.

The Economic Opportunity Actamendment
of 1974 added a new national emphasis program,
Emergency Energy Conservation Services, under
anew Section 222(a) (12) (later changed to 222 (a)
(5)). The major program components were: Weath-
erization, Crisis Intervention, Consumer Informa-
tion, Education and Legal Assistance, and En-
ergy R&D (including alternative energy develop-
ment).

A total of approximately $160 million of Sec-
tion 222(a) (12) funding went into weatherization
in the three years before the program was trans-

ferred to the Department of Energy (DOE) in 1979.
From 1973 until the transfer approximately
750,000 low-income homes were weatherized by
Community Action Agencies (CAAs) in every
state. Since 1978, DOE funding for its Weather-
ization Assistance Program has included funds
from oil overcharge settlements, states, and
LIHEAP transfers. CAAs have remained an im-
portant local deliverer of the program. InFY 1996,
funding for the Weatherization program was dras-
tically reduced from the previous year’s alloca-
tion level of $214 million to $111 million.

Weatherization results in significantly lower
fuel bills for low-income families. As a result of
Weatherization program improvements, low-in-
come households use 33.5 percent less heating
fuel and save approximately 24 percent on their
home energy bills, an average of $265 at current
prices. This savings represents 3.5 percent of the
average client’s annual income.

There is $133 million available for the pro-
gram in FY 1999, which enables the program to
provide weatherization services to an estimated
67,000 families.

ADMINISTERING AGENCY:  Department of En-
ergy (DOE), Weatherization Assistance Programs, Of-
fice of State and Community Programs, Washington,
D.C. 20585; (202) 586-4074; <www.doe.gov>,

ConsTITUENT ORGANIZATION: National Com-
munity Action Foundation (NCAF), 810 First 5t., NE,
Suite 530, Washington, D.C. 20002; (202) 842-2092.
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List oFf OEO AND Successor AGENCY DIRECTORS

L DIRECTORS OF THE U.S. OFFICE OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY
R. Sargent Shriver 1964 - 1968 Johnson appointee
Bertrand M. Harding 1968 - 1969 Johnson appointee (acting)
Donald Rumsfeld 1969 - 1970 Nixon appointee

Frank C. Carlucci 1971 Nixon appointee

Phillip V. Sanchez 1971 - 1973 Nixon appointee

Howard Phillips 1973 Nixon appointee (acting)
Alvin 1. Arnett 1973 - 1974 ~ Nixon appointee

Bert A. Gallegos 1974 - 1976 Nixon appointee

IL DIRECTORS OF THE U.S. COMMUNITY SERVICES ADMINISTRATION

Samuel Martinez 1976 - 1977 Ford appointee
Graciela Olivarez 1977 - 1980 Carter appointee
Richard J. Rios 1980 - 1981 Carter appointee
IIL. DIRECTORS OF THE U.S. OFFICE OF COMMUNITY SERVICES
Dwight Ink 1981 - 1982 Reagan appointee
Harvey Vieth 1982 - 1984 Reagan appointee
Jerrold Speers 1984 - 1985 Reagan appointee
David Kirker 1986 - 1987 Reagan appointee
Mary Evert 1987 - 1988 Reagan appointee
Eunice Thomas 1989 - 1992 Bush appointee
Donald Sykes 1993 - Clinton appointee
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$ $ APPROPRIATIONS HisTtorY $ $
($ in millions by Fiscal Year)

OEO FY : APPROPRIATIONS
1965 $ 8000
1966 1,500.0
1967 1,687.5
1968 1,778.0
1969 1,948.0
1970 1,948.0
1971 894.0 *
1972 742.3
1973 810.2
1974 358.8 **

CSA FY APPROPRIATIONS
1975 $ 4924
1976 520.1
1977 794.5
1978 797.8
1979 7429
1980 2,154.0 ***

0cCs FY APPROPRIATIONS
1981 $ . 389.5 wxxx
1982 366.0
1983 385.5
1984 352.2
1985 3724
1986 354.5
1987 3724
1988 382.2
1989 3775
1990 393.1
1991 427.7
1992 437 .4
1993 440.8
1994 464.2
1995 472.9
1996 435.4
1997 536.4
1998 542.2
1999 563.6

* Programs transferred to other federal departments ** Job Corps transferred to U.S. DOL *** Includes $1.596
million for Energy Crisis Intervention Programming **** Omnibus Budget Reconcilation Act (CSBG) enacted
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ListT OF ACRONYMS

ABE
ACF
AEA
ANA
AoA

HHS
DrpP
EFMS
EOA

CED
CETA
CENP

CHC
CHDO
CSA
CSBG
DOL

EFMS
HEW
JOLI
JTPA
LSC

NACAA
NYC
NYSP
OBRA
0OCs

OEO
SCSEP

SEOO
SOS
VISTA

Adult Basic Education

Administration for Children and Families
Adult Education Act

Administration for Native Americans
Administration on Aging

Community Development Corporation
Department of Health and Human Services
Demonstration Partnership Program
Emergency Food and Medical Services
Economic Opportunity Act

Community Action Agency

Community Development Corporation
Community Economic Development
Comprehensive Employment and Training Act
Community Food and Nutrition Program

Comprehensive Health Center

Community Housing Development Organization
Community Services Act

Community Services Block Grant

Department of Labor

Emergency Food and Medical Services
Department of Health, Education and Welfare
Job Opportunities for Low-Income Individuals
Job Training Partnership Act

Legal Services Corporation

National Association of Community Action Agencies
National Youth Corps

National Youth Sports Program

Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act

Office of Community Services

Office of Economic Opportunity

Senior Community Service Employment Training
Program

State Economic Opportunity Office

Senior Opportunities and Services

Volunteers in Service to America
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The National Association of Community Action Agencies
1100 17th Street, NW, Suite 500
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 265-7546 (Tel.)

(202) 265-8850 (Fax)
<www.nacaa.org>



